FILED  
January 5, 2016  
Court of Appeals  
Division I  
State of Washington

COA NO. 73149-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION ONE

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROSEMARY KAMB,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Ira J. Uhrig, Judge

---

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

CASEY GRANNIS  
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC  
1908 East Madison  
Seattle, WA 98122  
(206) 623-2373

**

**A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

The court erred in setting the amount of restitution. CP 396.

**Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error**

1. Whether the court erred in setting restitution by failing to subtract the amount of appellant's legitimate trustee compensation from the amount of restitution ordered?

2. Whether the court erred in treating various checks payable to others as instances of theft from the trust subject to restitution rather than instances of legitimate trust expenses?

**B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

1. Plea

Rosemary Kamb entered an Alford<sup>1</sup> plea to one count of first degree theft. CP 370-71, 372-81, 382-83; 1RP<sup>2</sup> 9-17; 2RP 4-10, 459-60. The charging period covered August 24, 2010 to April 2, 2011. CP 368, 372. As part of the plea, Kamb stipulated to the aggravating circumstance that she used her position of trust, confidence or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate commission of the offense. CP 375.

---

<sup>1</sup> North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L. Ed. 2d 162 (1970).

<sup>2</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - 6/19/14; 2RP - four consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 1/12/15, 1/14/15, 1/20/15, 1/21/15, 1/29/15.

The factual basis for the plea resided in the police reports and statement of probable cause provided by the prosecutor. CP 380. According to the arrest warrant, Kamb served as trustee of the Paul Keating Trust. CP 362. On August 12, 2010, Mr. Keating died. CP 362. The following beneficiaries of the trust were to receive these amounts: \$50,000 to Margaret Smith; \$50,000 to Priscilla Keating; \$75,000 to Dorothy Knott; and the remainder to Woodland Park Zoo. CP 362.

In May 2011, Dorothy Knott contacted police and alleged Kamb may have taken money from the trust. CP 362. Police discovered a substantial amount of money had been removed from the trust. CP 362-64. Many withdrawals were unexplained or did not appear legitimately connected to trust business. CP 362-64.

## 2. Restitution and sentencing hearing

A combined restitution and sentencing hearing was held. 2RP 29. Knott testified that she attempted to contact Kamb without success after Keating died. 2RP 315-18. Knott hired a lawyer in an attempt to obtain her \$75,000 share of the trust money. 2RP 326-28. She paid this attorney a \$25,000 contingency fee. 2RP 327, 344-45. Knott ultimately received her \$75,000 bequest through another trustee.<sup>3</sup> 2RP 327, 347-48.

---

<sup>3</sup> Margaret Smith also received her bequest through another trustee. Ex. 39.

Julie DeHaan, a certified public accountant experienced in trust work and forensic accounting, testified on the State's behalf. 2RP 48-51. DeHaan performed a forensic examination of records in Kamb's case. 2RP 52. She described her job as to track where the funds were expended, for what purpose, and then "account for them in the end." 2RP 59. DeHaan's methodology was to count withdrawals from the account to Kamb's benefit if she could not conceive of a legitimate reason for the withdrawal related to the trust. 2RP 165, 212, 216-18.

The total value of the Keating estate at the time of his death on August 12, 2010 was approximately \$475,000. 2RP 77-78, 89, 242, 245-46; Ex. 19. Exhibit 19 is the spreadsheet DeHaan produced, covering various accounts. 2RP 52-55. DeHaan determined a total of \$12,398.60 was used for legitimate expenses of the estate. 2RP 60; Ex. 19 at 2. Priscilla Keating was the only beneficiary to receive her trust distribution from Kamb, in the amount of \$50,000. 2RP 60, 201-03; Ex. 19 at 2. DeHaan concluded a total of \$204,909 constituted payments for Kamb's benefit. 2RP 60, 77; Ex. 19 at 2.

DeHaan described the Keating trust as a very simple one to manage, requiring no more than 40 hours of work that could have been completed in four to six months. 2RP 57, 153-54, 238, 241. Kamb's bookkeeping showed she actually acted as a fiduciary to the trust for a

period shortly after Keating's death. 2RP 96, 124-25. Kamb mapped out what needed to be done. Ex. 1 at 74-80. Legitimate expenses associated with the estate were paid. 2RP 96-104, 212, 247.

As successor trustee, Kamb was entitled to reasonable compensation for performing trust services, as per the trust document. 2RP 68-69, 89, 101-02, 224; Ex. 2 at 12, 33.<sup>4</sup> Hourly rates for trustee work range from \$95 to \$425 in a fiduciary setting. 2RP 228. The fee can be set up other than hourly; it can be a fixed fee plus a percentage of the assets. 2RP 237. The trust document states reasonable compensation "shall be commensurate with comparable charges for similar services made from time to time by corporate Trustees in the geographic area in which the Trust has its principal situs for administration." Ex. 2 at 33.

According to DeHaan, \$204,000 would be excessive compensation for administering the Keating trust. 2RP 90, 229. A recurring figure of \$2,495 showed up in the books as a trustee fee, with no accounting done to justify it. 2RP 67-68. DeHaan questioned the amount and frequency of the fee because it was unclear how the fee was calculated. 2RP 101, 104, 119, 121. The fees were unreasonable and excessive. 2RP 106, 121. There was no basis for a fee six months after Keating's death. 2RP 222.

---

<sup>4</sup> The original trust document created in June 1998 named Paul Keating as the trustee; in December 1998 the trust document was amended to name Kamb as successor trustee. Ex. 2 at 33, 40.

Once the decedent's debts were paid, the memorial service was over, and belongings disposed of, there were no more reasonable expenses of the estate. 2RP 118.

Sheila Ridgway, an attorney who does estate, trust and guardianship work, also testified on behalf of the State. 2RP 256-57. She was asked to assess what reasonable compensation for Kamb would be in this case. 2RP 258. Ridgway was familiar with how trustees generally bill and receive compensation. 2RP 262. According to Ridgway, an individual acting as trustee should bill on an hourly basis. 2RP 263. A fixed fee plus a percentage of the assets is inappropriate for individuals acting as trustees; that method of compensation only applies to financial institutions. 2RP 274-75.

Attorneys acting as trustees are generally entitled to a higher rate of compensation than a non-attorney acting as trustee. 2RP 265. Factors taken into account include trustee location, time and labor required, the novelty and difficulty of questions involved, skills needed to properly perform the legal service, the amount involved and the result obtained. 2RP 266-67. Kamb was suspended from the bar at the time she served as trustee of the Keating estate. 2RP 262.

The records reviewed by Ridgway lacked transparency and detail. 2RP 308. Many expenditures were unexplained. 2RP 277-78, 308. The



recurring \$2,495 "trustee fee" was unreasonable. 2RP 267-68. There were 18 such withdrawals totaling \$44,910 from October 29, 2010 to April 27, 2011. 2RP 269-70. This was a simple trust that should have taken two to four months to administer. 2RP 270, 291-92, 305-06.

Kamb had experience doing trust and estate work. 2RP 281. Ridgway agreed with DeHaan that the administration and closing out of the trust would take no more than 40 hours and an appropriate fee for an attorney in Skagit County would be \$250-\$275 an hour. 2RP 281-82. An appropriate fee for a non-attorney trustee ranged from \$50 to \$150 an hour depending on the individual's skills. 2RP 282. Ridgway did not calculate with specificity what an appropriate fee for Kamb would be, saying, "I don't know what Ms. Kamb actually did." 2RP 290. She thought an appropriate fee in this case would be \$7,500 to \$12,000. 2RP 291.

Kamb stipulated to \$48,000 in restitution and disputed the rest. 2RP 653; CP 375. Various witnesses testified that Kamb suffered from mental problems for a number of years, resulting in disordered thinking and deterioration of her mental functioning up through the charging period. 2RP 355, 359-60, 363-64, 378-82, 395-99, 404, 408-13, 420, 496, 527-29, 544-45, 549-52, 560-62, 572-77, 622-24. For example, in January 2011 Kamb had cashier's checks written out to her dentist (Dr. Otterhalt) and doctor (Dr. Wade) when she did not actually owe them anything, and

neither the dentist nor the doctor received the check. 2RP 79-80, 372-75, 601-02; Ex. 6 at 16; Ex. 43, Ex. 57. In connection with disciplinary proceedings, a Washington State Bar Association evaluator diagnosed Kamb with several mental conditions and opined her mental impairment prevented her from practicing law. 2RP 423-24, 433, 445-46; Ex. 46.

The trial court did not find Kamb's criminal conduct was the result of confusion. 2RP 730-31. It awarded a total of \$229,909.25 in restitution. CP 396. Of that total, \$25,000 went to Dorothy Knott for her attorney fees and the rest (\$204,909.25) went to Woodland Park Zoo. CP 396. The court imposed an exceptional sentence upward of 30 months confinement. CP 384-85, 389. Kamb appeals. CP 399-412.

C. **ARGUMENT**

1. **THE RESTITUTION ORDER SHOULD BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT DISREGARDS KAMB'S LEGITIMATE COMPENSATION AS TRUSTEE.**

Kamb pled guilty to theft from the trust over a period of time. But she performed some legitimate trust activities during that period. Kamb was entitled to reasonable compensation for services performed on behalf of the trust. The court erred in failing to subtract the amount of reasonable compensation from the restitution amount because compensation for legitimate services rendered does not constitute loss of property as a result

of the crime. For this reason, the restitution order should be reversed and the case remanded.

**a. Summary of restitution law.**

A court may impose only a sentence that is authorized by statute. State v. Woods, 90 Wn. App. 904, 907, 953 P.2d 834 (1998). The court's authority to impose restitution is statutory and so the court cannot exceed the authority granted under the controlling statute. State v. Johnson, 96 Wn. App. 813, 815, 981 P.2d 25 (1999). RCW 9.94A.753 authorizes the court to impose restitution against a criminal defendant. RCW 9.94A.753(3) places limits on this authority, stating in relevant part: "restitution ordered by a court pursuant to a criminal conviction shall be based on easily ascertainable damages for injury to or loss of property, actual expenses incurred for treatment for injury to persons, and lost wages resulting from injury."

Restitution may be ordered only for losses incurred as a result of the precise offense charged. State v. Miszak, 69 Wn. App. 426, 428, 848 P.2d 1329 (1993). That is, a restitution award must be based on a causal relationship between the offense charged and proved and the victim's losses or damages. State v. Johnson, 69 Wn. App. 189, 191, 847 P.2d 960 (1993). The State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that, but for the criminal act, the victim would not have suffered the loss. State v.

Thomas, 138 Wn. App. 78, 82, 155 P.3d 998 (2007). The court, however, cannot impose restitution based on a defendant's "general scheme" or acts "connected with" the crime charged, when those acts are not part of the charge. Woods, 90 Wn. App. at 907-08 (quoting Miszak, 69 Wn. App. at 428). Whether a loss is causally connected to the crime for which the defendant was convicted is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Acevedo, 159 Wn. App. 221, 229-30, 248 P.3d 526 (2010).

**b. The amount of reasonable compensation for Kamb's legitimate work as trustee cannot be included in the restitution amount.**

DeHaan, the State's forensic accountant, testified Kamb's bookkeeping showed she acted as a fiduciary to the trust shortly after Keating's death. 2RP 96, 124-25. Kamb paid out \$12,398.60 in legitimate expenses associated with the trust. 2RP 60, 96-104, 212, 247; Ex. 19 at 2. As trustee, Kamb was entitled to reasonable compensation for performing trust services. 2RP 68-69, 89, 101-02, 224; Ex. 2 at 12, 33.

The State also called Ridgway as an expert witness to testify about what reasonable compensation for Kamb would be in this case. 2RP 258. When defense counsel objected that the issue of the reasonableness of the fee was not a proper subject of litigation, the prosecutor responded "In order to determine what restitution is due to the victims in this case, we

need to determine what, if any, of that amount is an appropriate trustee fee that obviously should not be part of the restitution." 2RP 262-63.<sup>5</sup>

Ridgway agreed with DeHaan that the administration and closing out of the trust would take no more than 40 hours. RP 281. An appropriate fee for a non-attorney trustee working in Skagit County ranged from \$50 to \$150 an hour depending on the individual's skills. 2RP 282. Ridgway did not calculate with specificity what an appropriate fee for Kamb would be, but opined an appropriate fee in this case would be \$7,500 to \$12,000. 2RP 290-91.

The court, however, refused to subtract the amount of Kamb's reasonable compensation from the restitution amount: "I don't believe that Ms. Kamb has made any showing that she was entitled to any payment, whatsoever, for her services in managing this trust because it was clear mismanagement and misdirection of funds. If she believes that she is entitled to any reimbursement for her services, then she can maintain an

---

<sup>5</sup> The court overruled the defense objection. 2RP 263. In closing argument, the State took the position that Kamb was not entitled to any trustee fees because she looted the account. 2RP 637-38. In response to the defense argument that fee reasonableness was a civil rather than a criminal matter and that the State had failed to meet its burden of proof, the State contended "[t]he problem is in order to determine what the appropriate amount of restitution is, you have to determine whether or not there are trustee fees that are reasonable and that, obviously, would come out of the restitution pot. So that is a figure that the court, I believe, needs to come up with and it's entirely appropriate to do so." 2RP 689.

action against the trust. But I don't believe she has showed any demonstration that she is entitled to anything." 2RP 731-32.

The court was wrong. Kamb did not need to show anything. She did not have the burden of proof. The State bore the burden of establishing the amount of restitution owed. And the State's own witnesses established Kamb was entitled to reasonable compensation. DeHaan testified Kamb did legitimate work on behalf of the trust. Ridgway estimated the reasonable fee amount in this case would be \$7,500 to \$12,000.

Not all of the \$2,495 "service" fees are legitimate. But some portion of the total is based on Kamb's legitimate trustee work. A fee for the legitimate work accomplished by Kamb as trustee of the Keating estate cannot be deemed a loss to the trust (and by extension, to the trust's beneficiaries) under the restitution statute. There is no causal connection between Kamb's legitimate trustee services and the losses suffered. The State must prove that, but for the criminal act, the victim would not have suffered the loss. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. at 82. Kamb's legitimate trustee work was not a criminal act. Her legitimate trustee services did not cause the trust to lose money as a result of criminal act. But for the criminal acts that did occur (the theft), the trust still owed reasonable compensation to the trustee for legitimate services rendered. The amount of compensation

for legitimate services accomplished on behalf of the trust does not constitute loss of property as a result of the crime under RCW 9.94A.753(3).

The court painted with too wide a brush in refusing to distinguish between Kamb's criminal acts perpetrated under the guise of being a trustee and the legitimate, non-criminal fiduciary work she accomplished as trustee. The two kinds of conduct may be associated, but the court cannot impose restitution based on a defendant's "general scheme" or acts "connected with" the crime charged, when those acts are not part of the charge. Woods, 90 Wn. App. at 907-08 (quoting Miszak, 69 Wn. App. at 428). The total restitution amount should be reduced by the amount of reasonable compensation owed to Kamb as trustee of the estate.

The restitution order should therefore be reversed. As the trial court never ascertained the appropriate amount of reasonable compensation, remand for additional fact-finding is necessary.

**2. VARIOUS CHECKS MADE PAYABLE TO OTHERS SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN INCLUDED AS RESTITUTION BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE PAYMENTS WERE ILLEGITIMATE.**

In ordering restitution, the trial court used the total amount of funds going to Kamb's benefit as calculated by DeHaan, the State's forensic accountant. CP 396; Ex. 19 at 2. In calculating the amount of

loss to the trust, DeHaan treated several checks payable to others as going to the benefit of Kamb: a \$38.10 check payable to Skagit Valley Medical Center, a \$93.57 check payable to Skagit Valley Hospital, a \$166.50 check to Health Care, and a \$3,970 check payable to Josephine White. These amounts should have been omitted from restitution. The State failed to prove they were not legitimate trust expenses. The State must prove easily ascertainable damages by a preponderance of the evidence. Thomas, 138 Wn. App. at 82; RCW 9.94A.753(3). As set forth below, the State did not meet its burden.

**a. Checks to Skagit Valley Medical Center and Skagit Valley Hospital**

In calculating the amount of restitution owed on the spreadsheet, DeHaan treated the following as going to the benefit of Kamb: a \$38.10 check payable to Skagit Valley Medical Center and a \$93.57 check payable to Skagit Valley Hospital. 2RP 209-10; Ex. 1 at 111-114; Ex. 19 at 9. DeHaan believed these bills were covered by Medicare or supplemental insurance and maintained there was no hospital billing invoice in the accounting records. 2RP 210-11.

A letter from Skagit Valley Hospital states that Medicare may not cover all costs. Ex. 21 at 38. Both of these checks were endorsed and



cashied by the payee, presumably because the amounts were actually owed.  
Ex. 7 at 4, 13.

Contrary to DeHaan's belief, there is a Skagit Valley Hospital bill dated October 19, 2010 showing \$93.57 was due after Medicare and AARP Health Care paid the bulk of expenses. Ex. 1 at 34-35; Ex. 21 at 54-55. There is also a Skagit Valley Medical Center bill dated September 30, 2010, showing \$38.10 was due following the insurance adjustment. Ex. 1 at 48-49. Both were legitimate trust expenses that should not have counted toward restitution.

A police report submitted into evidence contains the hearsay statement of someone from Skagit Valley Hospital that Medicare Insurance and supplemental insurance paid the account and so no patient balance was due. Ex. 18; 2RP 34-35. That hearsay statement cannot overcome the Skagit Valley Hospital billing statement showing a \$93.57 balance was due after Keating's death. Ex. 1 at 34-35; Ex. 21 at 54-55.

**b. Check to Health Care**

In her spreadsheet, DeHaan treated a \$166.50 check payable to cash but noted for "Health Care Options" as going to the benefit of Kamb. Ex. 19 at 4. There is a notation that the expense was presumed legitimate. Ex. 19 at 4. The check was endorsed by Kamb. 2RP 247; Ex. 14 at 17. But on cross-examination, DeHaan agreed this expense was legitimate and

should not be counted as going to Kamb's benefit. 2RP 110-11. So it should not have counted toward restitution.

**c. Check to Josephine White**

DeHaan treated a check payable to Josephine White for \$3,970 as going to the benefit of Kamb. Ex. 19 at 10. The check, dated March 17, 2011, is noted for "caregiving" and endorsed by White. Ex. 7 at 27. DeHaan did not know who White was. 2RP 239-40. There is no evidence she tried to find out.

DeHaan, did however, treat another check for "health care services" as a legitimate expense. Ex. 19 at 4. This check, posted on September 15, 2010, is payable to Marisela Tellez for \$75. Ex. 14 at 15-16. DeHaan did not testify she knew who Tellez was either, but she considered this caregiver payment as appropriate.

DeHaan did not explain why she treated the two checks differently. The State has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the check payable to White was illegitimate. The State failed to sustain its burden. The check was noted for "caregiving." Nothing in the record shows White did not prove care services to Keating. The \$3,970 should therefore not be included as restitution.

**d. The court abused its discretion in awarding restitution for the check amounts.**

When restitution is authorized by statute, imposition of restitution is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Enstone, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679, 974 P.2d 828 (1999). A court's decision is based on untenable reasons if the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

The court abused its discretion in including the challenged amounts as restitution. As argued, the facts in the record do not meet the requirements of the standard for awarding restitution. Because the State did not prove these amounts went to the benefit of Kamb as opposed to the trust, they cannot be considered an illegitimate loss to the trust. Restitution must be based on easily ascertainable damages for property lost as a result of the crime. RCW 9.94A.753(3). The monies designated in those checks were legitimate payments to trust creditors. The State did not prove otherwise. The total amount of these checks — \$4,268.17 — cannot be lawfully included in the restitution amount.