FILED
March 29, 2016
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

NO. 73149-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS – STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON
Respondent,

v.

ROSEMARY KAMB,
Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON, FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Ira J. Uhrig, Judge

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

SKAGIT COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY
RICHARD A. WEYRICH, PROSECUTOR

By: ROSEMARY H. KAHOLOKULA, WSBA#25026
Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Office Identification #91059

Courthouse Annex
605 South Third
Mount Vernon, WA 98273
Ph: (360) 416-1600

I. ISSUES

1. Where the defendant has failed to act as a fiduciary, should she be entitled to any trustee fees to offset the restitution order?
2. Where the evidence supports that a check was not a legitimate expenditure and where there is no documentation or explanation regarding another check, did the trial court properly exercise discretion in including those amounts in the restitution order?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts the appellant's statement of the case.

III. ARGUMENT

- 1. Where the defendant failed to act as a fiduciary she was not entitled to an offset of the restitution order for trustee fees.**

The defendant seeks to have this matter remanded to the trial court for a determination of what reasonable compensation to her would be and to have that amount offset the restitution order.

Restitution shall be based on easily ascertainable damages for, among other things, loss of property. RCW 9.94A.753(3). "Easily

ascertainable damages are tangible damages supported by sufficient evidence. But '[c]ertainty of damages need not be proven with specific accuracy.' Instead, Washington courts have held that "[o]nce the fact of damage is established, the precise amount need not be shown with mathematical certainty." *State v. Tobin*, 132 Wn. App. 161, 173, 130 P.3d 426 (2006) (citations omitted).

"Restitution is appropriate if the damages are foreseeable and there is a causal connection between the defendant's crime and the injuries for which compensation is sought." *State v. Kisor*, 82 Wn. App. 175, 180, 916 P.2d 978 (1996) (citations omitted).

Any interpretation of RCW 9.94A.753 should be consistent with the "legislative intent to grant broad powers of restitution." *Kisor*, 82 Wn. App. at 184 *citing State v. Davison*, 116 Wn.2d 917, 920, 809 P.2d 1374 (1991).

"When the particular type of restitution in question is authorized by statute, imposition of restitution is generally within the discretion of the trial court and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." *Davison*, 116 Wn.2d at 919, *citing State v. Morse*, 45 Wn. App. 197, 199, 723 P.2d 1209 (1986). The appellate court will find an abuse of discretion "only if the decision is

“manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.”” *Tobin*, 132 Wn. App. at 173 (citations omitted).

In short, the restitution statute allows the trial court considerable discretion in determining restitution, “which ranges from none (in some extraordinary circumstances) up to double the offender’s gain or the victim’s loss.” *State v. Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d 272, 282, 119 P.3d 350 (2005). Nor does the statute require that “the restitution ordered must be equivalent to the injury, damage or loss, either as a minimum or a maximum.” *Kinneman*, 155 Wn.2d at 282.

Tobin, 132 Wn. App. at 174.

Restitution may be based on estimated damages so long as the evidence is sufficient to provide a reasonable basis for that estimation. *Tobin*, 132 Wn. App. at 174.

In *Tobin*, the defendant was running an illegal operation and so did not keep complete or accurate records. The appellate court noted that “Tobin should not escape paying restitution simply because he failed to keep detailed and accurate records of his criminal activities.” *Tobin*, 132 Wn.App. at 175.

Here, expert witness Julia DeHaan, CPA, testified regarding her forensic review of all documents available concerning the defendant’s trust administration and her resultant conclusions. She testified about the money that went into and out of various accounts and how she made determinations about what funds were

legitimately expended for the benefit of the trust and what funds went to the defendant or to her benefit. 2RP 53-55, 57-62¹.

She testified that there was very little documentation on what the checks were written for and there was no contemporaneous accounting after a month or so after Mr. Keating died. She testified to the lack of receipts justifying the expenditures. 2RP 62. Regarding any records maintained by the defendant, the only thing DeHaan saw were some handwritten notes that appeared to indicate what various checks were written for in the first few weeks after Mr. Keating's death. But after that, there was nothing. 2RP 63.

DeHaan also testified as to what the responsibilities of a trustee are: to safeguard assets, to keep records, to provide an accounting to the beneficiaries. 2RP 85-86. The defendant² did none of these things.

In terms of trustee compensation, expert witness Sheila Ridgway, Esq., testified that she reviewed the trust document and that it provided for "reasonable compensation" for services but that "there was no duty to pay compensation or reimbursement to any trustee . . . unless and until the trustee submitted a request or billing

¹ Consistent with the appellant's briefing, 2RP refers to the VRP for 1/12/15, 1/14/15, 1/20/15, 1/21/15, and 1/29/15.

² In this brief, the State refers to the defendant as the trustee and to the subsequent trustee as the successor trustee.

for compensation and reimbursement.” She went on to testify that under the current circumstances where the trustor has died, a trustee would comply with this requirement by “keep[ing] a detailed log and to generate invoices on a monthly basis.” The defendant did not do this. 2RP 268-269.

Ridgway also opined on the duties of a trustee. The trustee’s primary duty is one of loyalty. As part of that duty, a trustee has an obligation to present an understandable record. The defendant did not comply with this duty. 2RP 273. Another duty is to preserve the estate and protect it on behalf of the beneficiaries. 2RP 275. One of the ways that the defendant breached this duty was by moving funds from the original D.A. Davidson account and putting them in a non-growth account. 2RP 285.

The defendant wants this matter to be remanded to the trial court for a fact-finding hearing on what fee is appropriate and to have this fee offset the total restitution amount. The defendant argues that because the State has the burden of proving the restitution amount, the State therefore has the burden of proving an appropriate fee to the defendant.

It is the State’s position that because the defendant utterly failed to act as a fiduciary in this case, the trial court did not abuse its

discretion in determining that she was not entitled to any trustee fees. The defendant failed to document and keep records, failed to perform an accounting, failed to safeguard the assets and protect the estate on behalf of the beneficiaries, and failed to comply with her duty of loyalty.

After finding that the defendant intentionally used the funds from the trust for her own benefit and that her acts “constituted a clear breach of fiduciary duty,” the trial court found that the defendant was not entitled to any payment because of her clear mismanagement and misdirection of funds. 2RP 731. Because of her criminal actions, the defendant “is not entitled to anything.” 2P 731-732.

Even if the defendant did take action which under other circumstances may be considered to benefit the trust, there was sufficient evidence here to establish that the defendant took every action, including potentially paying legitimate expenses, for purposes of maintaining control of the trust so that she could loot it. To the extent that the defendant did any “legitimate” work on trust, it was for overall purpose of redirecting the funds to herself or her own benefit.

The trial court acted within its discretion in determining that the defendant was not entitled to any offset for trustee fees in light of her looting of the trust.

Furthermore, the defendant is not entitled to compensation under the terms of the trust itself as she did not keep a detailed log and did not generate invoices on a monthly basis.

Even if this court were to hold that the defendant were entitled to an offset of trustee fees, a remand for purposes of fact-finding would serve no purpose. The defendant was solely in charge of the trust and was responsible for keeping records. She did not keep records. There is no other information to present to the trial court other than what was already presented at the hearing. The defendant argues that the State has the burden of proving restitution owed, which is true enough. However, the defendant is not correct that the State bears the burden of establishing what legitimate trustee fees would be here. That would be an impossibility. The defendant left no records to establish what, if any, legitimate activity she did do. As the trial judge put it, “Ms. Kamb was undeniably in a position of responsibility for the funds that were in this trust. The money was there and it seems to have disappeared without actually being accounted for in any legitimate or rational fashion. The money just seems to be gone, and a lot of it.” 2RP 730. A fact finding hearing would not accomplish anything. To paraphrase the court in *Tobin*, the

defendant should not benefit from a trustee fee offset simply because she failed to keep detailed and accurate records.

The defendant notes the testimony of DeHaan and Ridgway that the time to administer this trust might be about 40 hours, in total. The State would note, however, that the defendant did not complete administration of the trust. So 40 hours of activity should not be imputed to her. In fact, the most that can be attributed to the defendant is the paying of some bills within the period after Keating's death and the paying of one beneficiary. Ridgway testified that she could not calculate any fee that might be appropriate here because there was no way to tell what the defendant actually did on behalf of the trust. 2RP 290. After the defendant was removed from the trust, a successor trustee was appointed to administer the trust.

Consistent with the intent of the legislature to grant broad powers of restitution, the trial court acted within its discretion in declining to offset the restitution amount with any trustee fees.

2. The trial court properly exercised its discretion in awarding restitution.

A. Checks to Skagit Valley Medical Center and Skagit Valley Hospital.

The State concedes that these checks appear to have been a legitimate expense to be paid from the trust.

B. “Health Care” check

The defendant argues that \$166.50 should be taken off the restitution figure. The defendant fails for note that on re-direct, DeHaan explained further about the “health care” check. She explained that there were actually two such checks. One check written payable to the health care entity for \$166.50, and a different check written to “cash,” notated to be for health care, and endorsed by the defendant. DeHaan treated one check as legitimate and the other as going to the benefit of Kamb. 2RP 247.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in declining to treat this check as a legitimate expenditure.

C. Check to Josephine White.

The precise amount of restitution need not be shown with mathematical certainty. *State v. Tobin*, 132 Wn. App. at 173.

DeHaan in her review of the records did not find any support for the check to Josephine White being a legitimate expense of the trust. The defense did not rebut this evidence.


The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding that the Josephine White check was not a legitimate expenditure.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should affirm the restitution order.